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Before DAVIS and DUHE, Circuit Judges, and Dowd,! District Judge.

JOHN M DUHE, JR, Circuit Judge:

Appellant Jimry C Bailey challenges his conviction on
multiple counts related to his breaking and entering into the hones
of Vicki LaShawn Giffin? and Mchelle Joshua, residents on the

Fort Hood MIlitary Reservation. For reasons that follow, we

District Judge of the Northern District of Chio, sitting by
desi gnati on.

2At the tine of trial, Giffin was using the nane Vicki
LaShawn Arnstrong. Because she was known as Vicki LaShawn Giffin
during the events in question, we will refer to her as Giffin.



affirm

BACKGROUND

Count 1 of the indictnment charges Bailey with the aggravated
sexual abuse of Giffin, in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 2241(a)(1)
and 2245; count 2 charges Bail ey under theAssim |l ative Crines Act
18 US.C 8 13, with the burglary of Giffin s habitation with
intent to commt aggravated sexual assault, sexual assault, and
aggr avat ed sexual abuse, in violation of Tex. Pen. Code 88 22.011
22.021, 30.02, and 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2241(a)(1); count 3 charges Bail ey
under the Assimlative Crines Act, with burglary of Joshua’'s
habitation with intent to commt aggravated sexual assault, sexual
assaul t, aggravated sexual abuse, and theft, in violation of Tex.
Pen. Code §§ 22.011, 22.021, 30.02, and 18 U.S.C. § 2241(a)(1);
count 4 charges Bailey with receipt of a stolen firearmval ued at
nore than $100, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 662.

The acts alleged in counts 1 and 2 arose out of an incident
occurring in Giffin's honme on the Fort Hood mlitary base in
Texas.® |In the pre-dawn hours of My 25, 1992, Giffin, a Staff
Sergeant in the United States Arny, awoke to bei ng choked by a man
she later identified as Bailey. As he was choking her, Bailey
pl aced his hand in Giffin's underwear and inserted his finger into
her vagi na. Giffin pushed Bailey away, screaned for help, and

asked Bailey to |l eave her alone. Bailey |left but then returned,

SFort Hood, an United States military reservation, is a
federal enclave as defined in 18 U S.C. 8 7, the basis for which
the Assimlative Crines Act applies.
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and Giffin again pleaded for her safety. This tinme, Bailey |eft
and did not return.

Giffin, having observed her attacker in the bright hallway
light while he stood in her bedroom doorway, described himas a
five foot ten or eleven inches tall, |ight-skinned, H spanic nmale
with hair close to his head and a Iight nustache, and cl othed only
in light blue hospital pants and white canvas shoes.* Although a
police sketch was nade, Bailey was not identified as Giffin's
attacker until some nonths later when Giffin spoke with Staff
Sergeant Yvette Smalls about a simlar attack on Smalls. That
conversation led Giffin to a high school yearbook containing
Bail ey’ s photo, by which she identified Bailey as her attacker
Giffinidentified Bailey again inthree subsequent photo |i ne-ups.

Counts 3 and 4 of the indictnent are based upon an incident
that occurred on August 25, 1993, in the hone of M chelle Joshua.
Joshua, who lived al one on the Fort Hood base, was sl eeping on her
couch when she awoke in the pre-dawn norni ng because she felt that
soneone had pulled her toe. Awake, she began watching television
but was interrupted by “a bunping sound.” Joshua arose fromthe
couch, turned around, and saw a nan in one of the bedroons energing
froma closet. He wore a ski mask and dark-col ored pants but no
shirt. Joshua screaned and ran to a nei ghbor’s house to call the
pol i ce. When the police arrived, Joshua inforned them that a

foreign car she believed bel onged to the i ntruder was parked at the

‘AGiffin testified that at the tinme of trial, Bailey |ooked
heavi er and had nmore hair on his head and under his chin than he
had had at the tine of the attack.
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end of her driveway. Upon investigation, the police found a bl ack
ski mask on the back seat of the car and a Ruger nine millineter
pi stol and two magazines in the trunk. The car bel onged to one of
Bail ey’ s parents. When Joshua later returned to her house, she
found nothing m ssing but noticed that the cl oset was “nessed up.”
The police | ater discovered that the pistol found in Bailey’s trunk
bel onged to a nmechanic on Fort Hood, who had reported it stolen in
June 1993.

When questioned, Bailey initially denied entering Joshua s
home but admtted to having been in the area. He then changed his
story and confessed to entering Joshua s residence but clainmed he
did not know why he had done so. Bailey al so acknow edged he owned
a ski mask that he wore “for fun.” He denied having worn the nmask
in Joshua’s honme, however. He also stated that he had bought the
gun found in his car with full know edge that it was stolen.

Bai |l ey was convicted by a jury on all counts.

DI SCUSSI ON

Bail ey argues that (1) the district court erred in admtting
evi dence of an extrinsic offense; (2) the evidence is insufficient
to convict himon the burglary charge (count 3); (3) the district
court erred in denying his notion to dismss counts 3 and 4 for
all eged violations of the Speedy Trial Act; and (4) the district
court erred inrefusing toinstruct the jury on the | esser included
of fense of crimnal trespass. We are unpersuaded by Bailey's

argunents.



The district court, under Fed. R Evid. 404(b), admtted
evidence of Bailey's attack on Smalls only to denonstrate Bailey’s
intent and identity in commtting the burglaries charged in counts
2 and 3. The 404(b) evidence showed the follow ng: On Novenber
22, 1991, Smalls was awakened before sunrise when her touch-
sensitive bedside |lanp cane on, and found a stranger standing in
her bedroom doorway. Alarnmed, Smalls asked the intruder his
identity. The intruder did not respond and instead sat down on
Smal I s’ s bed while Smalls was still init. He inforned Smalls that
he was comng to visit a previous occupant who had given him
unrestricted access. He failed to identify this person, however,
and did not leave Smalls’s hone despite the realization of his
purported m stake. Al though Smalls asked him to |eave, he
refused. Eventually, the intruder told Smalls, w thout revealing
his nanme, that he was a football player at Killeen H gh School
Four to six hours after his entry into Smalls’s hone, during which
time he constantly guarded Smalls for fear she would call the
police, the intruder finally left. As he was | eaving, the intruder
pulled Smalls towards him pushed her up against the wall, and
grabbed her breast and crotch. Wen she screaned, he ran out.
Thereafter, Smalls exam ned photographs of high school footbal
teans in Killeen and identified Bailey as her attacker.

During an interview conducted two days after the incident,
Bail ey admtted that he had entered Smalls’s hone uninvited, that
he had stayed sone length of tine, that he had seen her breasts,

and that he had asked Smalls to have sex with him He deni ed



grabbing Smal | s’ s breasts or vagi nal area, however, but conceded he
may have brushed up agai nst her chest.

Bail ey maintains that the adm ssion of this evidence is not
relevant to the charged burglary offenses and that its prejudicial
ef fect outweighs its probative value. W disagree.

The decision to admt or exclude extrinsic evidence is subject
to reversal only upon a clear show ng of an abuse of discretion.

See United States v. Sanchez, 988 F.2d 1384, 1393 (5th Cr. 1993);

United States v. Peden, 961 F.2d 517, 521 (5th Cr. 1992). Rule
404(b) provides, in pertinent part:

Evi dence of other crinmes, wongs, or acts is not
adm ssible to prove the character of a person in

order to show action in conformty therewth. It
may, however, be adm ssible for other purposes, such
as pr oof of notive, opportunity, i ntent,

preparation, plan, know edge, identity, or absence
of m stake or accident . . . .

This Court has established a two-prong test that governs the

adm ssibility of Rule 404(b) evidence. See United States V.

Beechum 582 F.2d 898, 911 (5th G r. 1978) (en banc). First, the
evi dence nust be relevant to an issue other than the defendant’s
character. Second, the probative val ue of the evidence nust not be
substantially outweighed by its undue prejudice and the evidence

must neet the other requirenents of Rule 403. See id.; United

States v. Wllianms, 957 F.2d 1238, 1243-44 (5th CGr. 1992). W

concl ude that both prongs are satisfied, and that the evidence was
therefore properly admtted.
A

The Governnent contends that the evidence of Bailey' s attack



on Smalls is relevant to show identity and intent, both of which
Bail ey disputed at trial. Extrinsic offense evidence is rel evant
to an issue other than the defendant’s character only if the jury
can reasonably conclude that the extrinsic act occurred and that

t he defendant was the actor. See Huddl eston v. United States, 485

US 681, 689 (1988); see also Beechum 582 F.2d at 912-13

(rejecting standards developed in United States v. Broadway, 477

F.2d 991 (5th Cr. 1973), for establishing rel evance; and adopting
nmore lenient test). Evidence of Bailey's attack on Smalls is
therefore relevant to identity and intent under the Governnent’'s
theory only if the jury could reasonably find that (a) Bai | ey
hi msel f entered Smalls’s hone; and (b) he did so with the intent
to commt aggravated sexual assault, sexual assault, and aggravated

sexual abuse. See Beechum 582 F.2d at 913.

The Governnent proved that Bailey was the perpetrator of the
crime against Smalls. |Indeed, Bailey admtted to having been in
Smalls’s hone without invitation the night of the offense. The
jury thus could reasonably find that Bailey was Smalls’s attacker.
Evidence of Smalls’s attack is therefore clearly relevant to the
issue of identity. W are also convinced that the 404(b) evidence
is relevant to the issue of intent but pretermt any discussion of
that issue as wunnecessary in light of the holding regarding
identity.

B
Al t hough rel evant, the evi dence may nonet hel ess be excluded i f

its probative value is substantially outwei ghed by the danger of



unfair prejudice. See id. at 911 (citing Fed. R Evid. 403).
1
In determ ning the probity of 404(b) evidence, the test to be
applied varies depending on the issue for which the evidence is
offered. See id. at 911 n.15. Were 404(b) evidence is introduced
to establish identity, the crucial considerationis the simlarity
of the extrinsic and charged of fenses, but the degree of simlarity

must be much greater than that for intent. See id. at 911-12 n. 15;

see also United States v. Lail, 846 F.2d 1299, 1301 (1ith Cr.
1988) . “The physical simlarity [between the offenses] nust be
such that it marks the offenses as the handi work of the accused.
In other words, the evidence nust denonstrate a nodus operandi.”
Beechum 582 F.2d at 911-12 n.15 (citation omtted). The
Governnent maintains that the evidence shows that there were
substantial simlarities anong the three incidents. Al three took
pl ace uninvited in the hones of single wonen living on Fort Hood;
all occurred during pre-dawn hours; and each victi mwas physically
touched i n sone way w t hout consent, two of whomwere touched while
they were sl eeping. Bail ey correctly points out that the facts
that the wonen were all single and were physically touched in sone
way while they were sleeping is not conpelling because these are
characteristics shared by a nunber of sexual assaults. However,
the location and timng of each intrusion--Fort Hood during pre-

dawn hours--is of signature quality. Cf. Sanchez, 988 F. 2d at 1394

(recognizing that simlarity of |ocale of extrinsic and charged

of fenses is one factor relevant in determning probity of extrinsic



offense in identity inquiry), superseded by statute on other

grounds, as stated in 890 F. Supp. 764, 767 (WD. Ws. 1995). The

circunst ances of the extrinsic offense were therefore sufficiently
simlar to those of the charged offense for Rule 404(b) purposes.
2.

Qur conclusion that the extraneous-act evidence is probative
does not end our inquiry. W nust bal ance the probative val ue of
this evidence with its prejudicial effect. See Fed. R Evid. 403.
A review of the record satisfies us that the probity of this
evi dence was not substantially outweighed by its undue prejudice.
Any potential wundue prejudice was mtigated by the limting

instructions given by the court to the jury.® Cf. Beechum 582

‘Before the Governnent submitted the evidence, the court
enphasi zed:

Menbers of the Jury, evidence of this nature can be
admtted for a very limted purpose. The limted
purpose for which this testinony is going to be
admtted is for you to consider it, if you wish, as
to whether or not the Defendant had the intent to
commt the acts alleged in the Indictnment or when
you’'re considering the identity of the person who
commtted the acts alleged in the Indictnent, but
only for those limted purposes.

After all testinony, the court reiterated:

During this trial, you have heard evidence of acts
of the Defendant which may be simlar to those
charged in the Indictnent, but which were conmtted
on ot her occasions. You nust not consider any of
this evidence in deciding if the Defendant conmtted

the acts charged in the Indictnent. However, you
may consider this evidence for other, very limted,
pur poses.

If you find beyond a reasonable doubt from other
evidence in this case that the Defendant did conmt
the acts charged in the Indictnent, then you may

9



F.2d at 917 & n.23 (recognizing that cautionary instructions to
jury help palliate the prejudicial effect of extraneous-acts
evi dence) . The remaining considerations under Rule 403 do not
af fect our conclusion; evidence of Bailey's attack of Smalls was
unlikely to confuse the issues, mslead the jury, cause undue
del ay, or waste tinme. The court did not abuse its discretion, and
the evidence was therefore properly admtted.
.

Bail ey next argues that there is insufficient evidence to
support his conviction for burglary on count 3. He naintains the
evi dence does not establish that he entered Joshua' s residence with
intent tocommt a felony--whether that felony is aggravat ed sexual
assaul t, sexual assault, sexual abuse, or theft--because he neither
sexual |y assaulted or abused Joshua nor stole anything. Because
Bailey failed to nove for a judgnent of acquittal, we review only
to determ ne whether there was a mani fest m scarriage of justice.

See United States v. Laury, 49 F.3d 145, 151 (5th Cr.), cert.

denied, 116 S. C. 162 (1995). “Such a mscarriage of justice

woul d exist only if the record is devoid of evidence pointing to

consider the evidence of the simlar acts allegedly
commtted on other occasions to determ ne: 1)
whet her the Defendant had the state of mnd or
i ntent necessary to commt the crinmes charged in the
| ndi ct nent; 2) whet her the circunstances of this
uncharged act and the acts charged in the |Indictnent
were so distinctive and simlar as to establish the
identity of the Defendant as the perpetrator of the
acts charged in the indictnent.

These are the |imted purposes for which any
evidence of other simlar acts nmay be consi dered.

10



guilt, or . . . because the evidence on a key elenent of the
of fense was so tenuous that a conviction would be shocking.” [d.
(internal quotation marks omtted) (citation omtted).

Al t hough the evidence of intent to commt the nanmed sex
offenses is not overwhelmng, it is sufficient. The evidence
reveal ed that Joshua awoke to find Bailey exiting a bedroom cl oset
whil e wearing a ski mask. Fromthe use of the nmask al one, the jury
coul d have found that Bailey sought to hide his identity and that
therefore, his entry could not have been for innocent reasons.
That Bailey entered surreptitiously in the dark, wore a ski nask,
pulled on Joshua’s toe, wore no shirt, and hid in the bedroom
closet could have led a jury to believe that Bailey intended to
commt aggravated sexual assault, sexual assault, or aggravated
sexual abuse agai nst Joshua.

Mor eover, that Joshua’s closet had been “nessed up” and that
books had been knocked out of their boxes could indicate to a jury
Bailey’s intent to commt theft. A non-consensual nighttine entry

raises a presunption of intent to commt theft. See Mauldin v.

State, 628 S.W2d 793, 795 (Tex. Crim App. 1982). Furthernore,
the actual comm ssion of theft is not a prerequisite to the

comm ssion of a burglary, see Gutierrez v. State, 666 S.W2d 248,

250 (Tex. App.--Dallas 1984); Longoria v. State, 663 S.W2d 649,

652 (Tex. App.--Corpus Christi 1983). It is therefore inapposite
t hat Joshua di scovered nothing m ssing once she returned to her
residence. A conviction on these facts is not so shocking as to

render it a mscarriage of justice.
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L1l
At trial, Bailey noved unsuccessfully to dism ss counts 3 and
4 of the indictnent because of purported Speedy Trial Act
violations, 18 U S.C 88 3161(b) and 3161(c)(1). Bai l ey now
chal | enges the district court’s refusal to dism ss these counts as
error. This Court reviews the facts supporting a Speedy Trial Act
decision for clear error and the |egal conclusions de novo. See

United States v. Johnson, 29 F.3d 940, 942 (5th Cr. 1994).

On August 25, 1993, authorities arrested Bailey in connection
with their investigation into the Joshua incident. The next day,
the Governnent filed a m sdeneanor information, charging Bailey
wth (1) possession of stolen property, a handgun, val ued at |ess
than $100, in violation of 18 U S.C § 662, and (2) entering a
mlitary reservation for the purpose of commtting an act
prohibited by law, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 1382. On August 27,
1993, Bailey first appeared before the nmagistrate on the
m sdenmeanor charges. On Novenber 3, 1994, the governnent di sm ssed
t he m sdeneanor information because two days earlier, it had filed
the felony indictnent that forns the basis for the instant action.

A

Bailey first maintains that 18 U S.C. 8§ 3161(b) requires the
di sm ssal of counts 3 and 4 of the indictnent since he was not
charged within 30 days following his initial arrest on August 25,
1993. For the reasons below, we find this argunent unavaili ng.

1

This Court has adopted a narrow construction of the Act’s

12



di sm ssal sanction. See United States v. G wa, 831 F. 2d 538, 541-

43 (5th Gr. 1987). In Gwa, we held that the governnent’s failure
to indict a defendant within thirty days of his arrest on one
charge does not start the speedy trial clock as to other charges
subsequently filed. See id. at 542. “[T]he clear nandate of §
3162(a) (1) requires dismssal of only those charges contained in
the original conplaint” or other original accusatory instrunent.

|d. at 543; see also United States v. Napolitano, 761 F.2d 135, 137

(2d Gr. 1985). Cuided by Gwa, we cannot hold in Bailey' s favor.
For purposes of the Speedy Trial Act, Bailey was arrested for two
m sdenmeanor counts and indicted for four entirely different
of fenses, all felonies.® That nore than thirty days el apsed

between Bailey's arrest on the msdeneanor counts and his

®Bailey’s citation to United States v. Polonba, 31 F.3d 1456

9th Cr. 1994) is unavailing. In that case, the Governnent filed

three accusatory instrunents. |d. at 1463. The original conplaint
and the untinely superseding indictnent each raised two mail fraud
counts charging violations of 18 U S C § 1341. | d. The

instrunments differed as to those counts only insofar as the
supersedi ng i ndi ctnent identifiednmailings, msrepresentations, and

fraudul ent acts not specified in the original conplaint. [d. The
court held that under these facts, the Speedy Trial Act nandates
dismssal of the mail fraud counts wuntinely raised in the

super sedi ng i ndi ct nent because such counts “repeated charges (i.e.,
counts alleging violation of a particular statute) stated in the
conplaint over thirty days before, despite being based perhaps on
whol Iy or partially discrete offenses (i.e., acts in violation of
the sanme or different crimnal statutes or |laws) within the sane
crimnal scheme.” |d. at 1463.

Sei zi ng upon this | anguage, Bail ey suggests his case presents a

factual ly anal ogous situation. We di sagree. Admttedly, the
information and indictnent in the instant action each charge a
violation of 8§ 662. But unlike the situation in Polonba, each

charge in the instant action is different despite the shared
reference to 8 662 because the information charges a m sdeneanor
and the indictnent charges a fel ony.

13



i ndi ctment on the felony charges does not inplicate the dism ssal
sanction under § 3162(a)(1).’
2.

This Court has recogni zed one exception to the general rule.
Where “a subsequent charge nerely ‘gilds’ the initial charge filed
agai nst an individual and the different accusatorial dates between
the two charges are not reasonably explicable,” this Court has held
that “the date of the initial arrest may trigger the applicable
time periods of the Act as to prosecution for both offenses.”
Gwa, 831 F.2d at 542 (citations omtted). Webster’s Third New
International Dictionary defines gilding as “enbellishing.”
Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary defines it as “unnecessary

ornanentation.” See United States v. diver, 683 F. Supp. 35, 38

(E.D.N Y. 1988) (citing Webster’s Col l egiate Dictionary). Thus, a
gil ded charge is one that nerely annotates in nore detail the sane
charge alleged in the initial accusatory instrunent--here, the

m sdenmeanor information. See, e.q., United States v. Bilotta, 645

F. Supp. 369, 371 (E.D.N. Y. 1986) (holding that addition of certain
factual allegations in superseding indictnent did not change fact

that actual crinme charged was sane as that charged in origina

" Bailey maintains that because his initial arrest stemmed
from the Joshua burglary investigation and because the booking
sheet and mlitary police report fromhis initial arrest both |ist
burgl ary as one of the charges, the burglary count made t he subj ect
of count 3 of the indictnment nust be dismssed pursuant to 8§
3161(b). W disagree. A defendant is not “arrested” for purpose
of the Speedy Trial Act until formal charges are filed. See United
States v. Sanchez, 722 F.2d 1501, 1509 (11th Cr. 1984). That the
burglary charge is listed on the mlitary police report and the
booki ng sheet, therefore, does not nean that the speedy trial clock
had been inpli cat ed.

14



conpl aint and therefore subject to dismssal), citedin diver, 683

F. Supp. at 39.
This view conports wth Suprene Court precedent analyzing

mul tiple prosecutions. See United States v. D xon, 509 U S. 688,

696 (1993) (evaluating nultiple prosecutions under principles of
doubl e jeopardy). The Court views different charges as the sane if
they are conposed of the sane elenents. This “sane-el enents test,

sonetines referred to as the ‘Bl ockburger’ test, inquires whether

each offense contains an elenent not contained in the other; if
not, they are the ‘sanme offense’ and double |eopardy bars
addi tional punishnent and successive prosecution.” |d.

Bail ey’s strongest claim under § 3161(b) is his allegation
that count 4 of the indictnent nerely gilds count 1 of the
i nformati on because the charges alleged in each differ only as to
the valuation of the firearm a difference Bailey contends is
insignificant for purposes of the Speedy Trial Act. Although this
Court has never addressed this precise question, it has explai ned
that “where an offense that is otherwi se a m sdeneanor becones a
felony if coommtted in a certain way or wwth certain consequences,
the particular attribute that nmakes it a felony is an el enent of
the of fense, which nust be alleged in the indictnent and proved at

trial.” United States v. Deisch, 20 F. 3d 139, 147 (5th Cr. 1994).

Citing its application of this rule to 18 U S.C. 8§ 659 (theft of
shi pnments in commerce) and 8 641 (theft of property of the United
States), in each of which the offense is a m sdeneanor if the val ue

of the stolen property does not exceed $100, and is otherw se a

15



felony, this Court noted in Deisch that “a val ue of $100 or nore is
an elenment of the felony that nust be alleged and proved.” |d.
(citations omtted). Taki ng gui dance from Di xon and Deisch, we
hold that count 4 of the indictnment does not gild count 1 of the
m sdeneanor information because the m sdeneanor count and the
fel ony count each contains different elenents, viz., the valuation
of the weapon.

That both charges involve the sane handgun di scovered during
the sanme i nvestigation of the sane crimnal act does not conpel the
opposi te concl usi on. Legi slative history reveals that “Congress
considered and rejected [the] suggestion that the Act’s di sm ssal
sanction be applied to subsequent charges if they arise fromthe
sane crimnal episode as those specified in the original conplaint
or were known or reasonably shoul d have been known at the tine of

the conplaint.” Napolitano, 761 F.2d at 137; accord United States

v. Hausman, 894 F.2d 686, 688 (5th Cr. 1990) ("“Wether the

conviction arose from the sane conduct as charged in the arrest

warrant and conplaint is immterial.” (citation omtted)). The
charges in the informati on and counts 3 and 4 of the indictnent are
distinct for Speedy Trial Act purposes and therefore dismssal is
unwar r ant ed.
B
Bai |l ey next maintains that count 4 of the indictnent should
have been di sm ssed because his trial was not held wthin 70 days

of his initial appearance before a nmagistrate judge. Section

3161(c) requires an individual to be tried within 70 days of the

16



“filing date (and nmaki ng public) of the information or indictnent,
or from the date the defendant has appeared before a judicia
officer of the court in which such charge is pending, whichever
date occurs last.” 18 U.S.C. 8 3161(c)(1). Bailey argues that his
first appearance before a judicial officer on August 27, 1993
triggered the speedy trial clock. The Governnent counters that the
speedy trial clock did not begin to run until Novenber 1, 1994,
when Bail ey’ s previously seal ed i ndi ct nent was nmade public upon his
arrest. W agree.

The August appearance was related to Bailey' s m sdeneanor
information and not to his felony indictnent, which fornms the
subject of the instant action. As we have already discussed, the
charges alleged in the indictnent are distinct fromthose in the
earlier m sdeneanor information for purposes of the Speedy Trial
Act . The 70-day tine bar therefore did not begin to run unti
Novenber 1, 1994, the date upon which Bailey’s indictnent was
unseal ed. Wt conclude that Bailey's trial was well wthin the
statutory period.?

| V.

Bail ey further clains the district court’s refusal to instruct

the jury on crimnal trespass as a lesser included offense of

burglary was error. Count three of the indictnent charges Bail ey

8Actual |y, ninety-seven days had el apsed between the tine the
i ndi ctment was unseal ed (Novenber 1, 1994) and the date the trial
began (February 7, 1995). Many of these delays, however, were
excludabl e for speedy-trial purposes under 18 U S. C. 8§ 3161(h).
See United States v. Johnson, 29 F.3d 940, 942-43 (5th Cr. 1994);
United States v. Otega-Mena, 949 F. 2d 156, 158-89 (5th Gr. 1991).

17



with violation of Texas | aw under the Assim |l ative Crinmes Act, 18
US C 8 13, which was intended “to provide a set of crimnal |aws
for federal enclaves by the use of the penal |aw of the |local state

‘“to fill the gaps in federal crimnal |aw’” United States v.

Brown, 608 F.2d 551, 553 (5th Gr. 1979) (citation omtted).
Wt hout deciding whether a l|esser included offense instruction
should be defined in this case by federal or state law, we hold
that under either test, the instruction requested by Bailey at
trial is unwarranted.

A defendant is entitled to a |l|esser included offense
instruction under federal |aw when (1) the elenents of the | esser
of fense constitute a subset of the el enents of the charged of fense,

see Schnmuck v. United States, 489 U S 705, 716 (1989)

(interpreting Fed. R Crim P. 31(c)); United States v. Krout, 66

F.3d 1420, 1431 (5th Cr. 1995); cert. denied, 116 S. Q. 963

(1996), and (2) the evidence at trial is sufficient to allow a
reasonable jury to find the defendant guilty of the | esser of fense,

yet to acquit himof the greater, see Keeble v. United States, 412

U S. 205, 208 (1973), cited in Schnuck, 489 U S. at 716 n. 8.

Texas enploys a different test to determ ne the necessity of
a lesser included offense instruction: (1) proof of the |esser
of fense nust be included within the proof necessary to establish
the offense charged; and (2) there nust be sone evidence in the
record that if the defendant is guilty, he is guilty of only the
| esser offense. See Wite v. State, 698 S.W2d 494, 495 (Tex.

App.--Corpus Christi 1985); Daniels, 633 S.W2d 899, 901 (Tex.
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Crim App. [panel op.] 1982).

The el enents of the offense of crimnal trespass, Tex. Penal
Code § 30.05, are: (1) a person (2) wthout effective consent
(3) enters or remains on the property or in a building of another
(4) knowi ngly or intentionally or recklessly (5) when he had
notice that the entry was forbidden or received notice to depart

but failed to do so. See Daniels v. State, 633 S W2d at 901

(citation omtted). The elenents of the offense of burglary, Tex.
Penal Code § 30.02, are: (1) a person (2) wthout the effective
consent of the owner (3) enters a habitation or a building not
then open to the public or renmains concealed (4 wth the intent

tocommt a felony or theft. See Day v. State, 532 S.W2d 302, 304

(Tex. Crim App. 1975).

While the first prong of the federal and Texas tests are
different, the second prong of the two tests are substantially the
sane: Unl ess the evidence permts a jury to conclude that the
defendant is guilty of the |esser offense and innocent of the
greater offense, the | esser offense instruction need not be given.
A defendant’s testinony alone is sufficient to raise an issue on
the second prong. For Bailey to prevail, therefore, he nust show
that the evidence permts a reasonable jury to find that he entered
Joshua’s hone wthout the intent to commt aggravated sexual
assault, sexual assault, aggravated sexual abuse, or theft as
charged in count 3.

We are not persuaded that the record permts afinding that if

Bailey is qguilty of any crine, he is guilty of only the |esser
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of fense. Bailey presented no evidence concerning his nental state
at the tinme he entered Joshua’ s residence, and he did not testify
at trial. The jury was also entitled to rely on the Rule 404(Db)
evidence of Bailey's earlier simlar acts of burglary and sexual
assault as evidence of his intent to assault Joshua. Mor eover
Bailey's statenent to the mlitary police regarding the Joshua
incident, admtted into evidence, was hardly exculpatory of a
crimnal intent. In that statenent, Bail ey cl ained he did not know
why he had entered Joshua’s hone. This evidence, whichis the only
evidence Bailey offers for his position, is not enough to show t hat
if Bailey is guilty, he is guilty only of the |esser offense of
crim nal trespass.

Under these facts, we cannot hold that the evidence raises the
i ssue of the |l esser included offense of crimnal trespass.

The district court’s refusal to so instruct was therefore not
in error.

CONCLUSI ON
For the foregoi ng reasons, the judgnent of the district court

i s AFFI RMVED.
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